

CANADIAN
PSYCHOLOGICAL
ASSOCIATION



SOCIÉTÉ
CANADIENNE
DE PSYCHOLOGIE

CPA By-Law Changes

2013

CPA By-Law Changes 2013

As some of the membership may know, Canada brought into force a new Not-for-profit Corporations Act (NFP Act) in October of 2011. All not-for-profit corporations have until October of 2014 to transition to this new act – this transition requirement will of course affect CPA which is a registered not-for-profit corporation. The transition process requires that we replace the association's letters patent with a Certificate and Articles of Continuance and create a set of by-laws that comply with the new Act. More information on new Act and transition to it can be found at <https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs04973.html>

The CPA Board and senior officers worked with our legal counsel to develop the proposed by-laws presented below that will meet the requirements of the new Act. You will note that the proposed by-laws are more succinct than the current version. The content in the old by-laws will not be lost but will now form part of the Operating Regulations developed and approved by the CPA Board. The proposed new by-laws will be voted on by the membership at the Annual General Meeting to take place in Quebec City on June 14th during the 2013 Annual Convention. As per the requirements of our current by-laws, members must be given 30 days' notice of a motion to repeal or amend any by-law or by-laws.

**SPECIAL RESOLUTION OF THE MEMBERS
of
CANADIAN PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION
SOCIÉTÉ CANADIENNE DE PSYCHOLOGIE
(the “Corporation”)**

Continuing the Corporation under the provisions of the *Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act* (“CNCA”) and authorizing the directors to apply for a Certificate of Continuance.

WHEREAS the Corporation was incorporated under Part II of the *Canada Corporations Act* by Letters Patent dated the 16th day of August, 1962; and

AND WHEREAS it is considered to be in the best interests of the Corporation that it be continued under the CNCA pursuant to section 297;

BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:

1. The directors of the Corporation are hereby authorized and directed to make an application under section 297 of the CNCA to the Director for a Certificate of Continuance of the Corporation;
2. The Articles of Continuance (transition) of the Corporation, which have been submitted to this meeting and are annexed to these minutes as Schedule A, are hereby approved;
3. The general operating by-law of the Corporation (as amended) is repealed effective on the date that the corporation continues under the CNCA and the new General Operating By-law No.1 which has been submitted to this meeting and is annexed to these minutes as Schedule B is approved and will be effective on the same date; and
4. Any one of the officers and directors of the Corporation is authorized to take all such actions and execute and deliver all such documentation, including the annexed Articles of Continuance (transition), the notice of registered office and of directors in the forms fixed by the Director, which are necessary or desirable for the implementation of this resolution.

ENACTED this ____th day of _____, 20____.

WITNESS the seal of the Corporation.

Chair

Secretary

SCHEDULE 1

- a) Any by-law, amendment or repeal of a by-law shall require confirmation by special resolution of the members.
- b) The board of directors may appoint one or more additional directors who shall hold office for a term expiring not later than the close of the next annual meeting of members, but the total number of directors so appointed shall not exceed one-third (1/3) of the number of directors elected at the previous annual meeting of members.
- c) The Corporation shall be carried on without the purpose of gain for its members, and any profits or other accretions to the corporation shall be used in furtherance of its purposes.
- d) Directors shall serve without remuneration, and no director shall directly or indirectly receive any profit from his or her position as such, provided that a director may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in performing his or her duties.

**[English translation of form 4031 (2011-10)
- Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act (NFP Act)]**

To be used only for a continuance from the Canada Corporations Act, Part II.

1. Current name of the corporation

CANADIAN PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION
SOCIÉTÉ CANADIENNE DE PSYCHOLOGIE

2. If a change of name is requested, indicate proposed corporate name

n/a

3. Corporation number

3 4 9 7 8 0

4. The province or territory in Canada where the registered office is situated

Ontario

5. Minimum and maximum number of directors

(for a fixed number, indicate the same number in both boxes)

Minimum number: 3

Maximum number: 16

6. Statement of the purpose of the corporation

The purposes of the Corporation are:

- (a) to improve the psychological health and welfare of all Canadians;
- (b) to promote excellence and innovation in psychological research, education and practice;
- (c) to promote the advancement, development, dissemination and application of psychological knowledge; and
- (d) to provide high quality services to members.

7. Restrictions on the activities that the corporation may carry on, if any

None

8. The classes, or regional or other groups, of members that the corporation is authorized to establish

The Corporation is authorized to establish one class of members. Each member will be entitled to receive notice of, to attend and to vote at all meetings of the members of the Corporation.

9. Statement regarding the distribution of property remaining on liquidation

Any property remaining on liquidation of the Corporation after discharge of its liabilities, shall be distributed to qualified donees under the Income Tax Act (Canada) with purposes that are consistent with those of the Corporation.

10. Additional provisions, if any

See Schedule 1 attached

11. Declaration

I hereby certify that I am a director or an authorized officer of the corporation continuing into the NFP Act.

Signature _____

Print name _____

Phone Number _____

BY-LAW NO. 1

A by-law relating generally to the conduct
of the affairs of

CANADIAN PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION SOCIÉTÉ CANADIENNE DE PSYCHOLOGIE

(the “Corporation”)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section 1	- Interpretation	8
Section 2	- Financial and Other Matters	9
Section 3	- Membership	10
Section 4	- Meetings of Members	12
Section 5	- Directors	15
Section 6	- Meetings of Directors	17
Section 7	- Officers	19
Section 8	- Sections	21
Section 9	- Notices	23
Section 10	- By-laws	24
Section 11	- Effective Date	26

WHEREAS the Corporation was granted Letters Patent by the federal Government of Canada under the *Canada Corporations Act* on the 16th day of August, 1962;

AND WHEREAS the Corporation has applied for a certificate of continuance to be continued under the *Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act S.C. 2009, c.23*;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED as a general operating By-law of the Corporation to take effect in accordance with section 11.01 as follows:

SECTION 1 – INTERPRETATION

1.01 DEFINITIONS

In this by-law and all other by-laws of the Corporation, unless the context otherwise requires:

- a) “Act” means the *Canada Not-For-Profit Corporations Act* S.C. 2009, c.23 including the Regulations made pursuant to the Act, and any statute or regulations that may be substituted, as amended from time to time;
- b) “articles” means the original or restated articles of incorporation or articles of amendment, amalgamation, continuance, reorganization, arrangement or revival of the Corporation;
- c) “board” means the board of directors of the Corporation and “director” means a member of the board;
- d) “by-law” means this by-law and any other by-law of the Corporation as amended and which are, from time to time, in force and effect;
- e) “Fellows” means members who have made a distinguished contribution to the advancement of the science or profession of psychology or who have given exceptional service to their national or provincial associations, have met the requirements set forth in Operating Regulations, who have been recommended as Fellows by the Committee on Fellows and who have been approved as such by the board;
- f) “meeting of members” includes an annual meeting of members or a special meeting of members;
- g) “Operating Regulations” means the operating regulations approved by the board in accordance with section 2.07 of this by-law;
- h) “ordinary resolution” means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than 50% plus 1 of the votes cast on that resolution;
- i) “proposal” means a proposal submitted by a member of the Corporation that meets the requirements of section 163 of the Act;
- j) “Regulations” means the regulations made under the Act, as amended, re-stated or in effect from time to time;
- k) “Section” of the Corporation has the meaning set out in section 8 of this by-law; and
- l) “special resolution” means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast on that resolution.

1.02 INTERPRETATION

The following rules of interpretation will apply to this by-law, (unless the context otherwise requires):

- a) words importing the singular number only will include the plural and *vice versa*;
- b) the word “person” will include an individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, unincorporated association, body corporate, and a natural person;

- c) words referring to gender include the feminine, masculine and neuter genders; and
- d) the by-laws of the Corporation will be strictly interpreted at all times in accordance with and subject to the purposes contained in the articles of the Corporation.

SECTION 2 – FINANCIAL AND OTHER MATTERS

2.01 FINANCIAL YEAR

Unless otherwise changed by resolution of the board, the financial year end of the Corporation shall be the 31st day of December in each year.

2.02 BANKING ARRANGEMENTS

The banking business of the Corporation shall be transacted at such bank, trust company or other firm or corporation carrying on a banking business in Canada or elsewhere as the board of directors may designate, appoint or authorize from time to time by resolution. The banking business or any part of it shall be transacted by an officer or officers of the Corporation and/or other persons as the board of directors may by resolution from time to time designate, direct or authorize.

2.03 PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

The Corporation shall be subject to the requirements relating to appointment of a public accountant and level of financial review required by the Act. The members may resolve not to appoint a public accountant if the Corporation meets the requirements for a “designated corporation” under the Act (by having \$50,000 or less in gross annual revenues for its last completed financial year) and upon unanimous approval of the members.

2.04 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation shall send copies of the annual financial statements and other documents referred to in subsection 172(1) of the Act to the members between 21 to 60 days before the day on which an annual meeting of members is held or before the day on which a written resolution in lieu of an annual meeting is signed, unless a member declines to receive them. Alternatively, the Corporation may give notice to the members stating that such documents are available at the registered office of the Corporation and any member may request a copy free of charge at the registered office or by prepaid mail.

2.05 CORPORATE SEAL

The Corporation may have a corporate seal in the form approved from time to time by the board. If a corporate seal is approved by the board, the board shall determine which officer of the Corporation shall be the custodian of the corporate seal.

2.06 EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS

Deeds, transfers, assignments, contracts, obligations and other instruments in writing requiring execution by the Corporation may be signed by any two (2) of its officers or directors. In addition, the board may from time to time direct the manner in which and the person or persons by whom a particular document or type of document shall be executed. Any person authorized to sign any document may affix the corporate seal (if any) to the document. Any signing officer may certify a copy of any instrument, resolution, by-law or other document of the Corporation to be a true copy thereof.

2.07 OPERATING REGULATIONS

The board may adopt, amend, or repeal by resolution such operating regulations that are not inconsistent with the by-laws of the Corporation relating to such matters as terms of reference of committees, duties of officers, board code of conduct and conflict of interest as well as procedural and other requirements relating to the by-laws as the board may deem appropriate from time to time. Any Operating Regulations adopted by the board will continue to have force and effect until amended, repealed, or replaced by a subsequent resolution of the board.

2.08 AFFILIATES

The board of directors of the Corporation may approve categories of affiliates, including Student Affiliates, International Student Affiliates, International Affiliates, Special Affiliates and Honorary Fellows as further described in the Corporation’s Operating Regulations. Affiliates shall not be members of the Corporation and shall have no voting privileges in the Corporation. Persons qualified for membership in the Corporation are not eligible for affiliate status. Affiliates shall enjoy the privileges set out in the Operating Regulations. Affiliates shall comply with the articles, by-laws and Operating Regulations of the Corporation.

SECTION 3 – MEMBERSHIP

3.01 CLASSES AND CONDITIONS OF MEMBERSHIP

Pursuant to the Articles, there shall be one (1) class of members in the Corporation. Membership in the Corporation shall be available to psychologists in Canada and abroad who have applied for and been admitted into membership in the Corporation in accordance with the Corporation’s Operating Regulations. Applicants for membership must possess at least a Masters degree in psychology, or its academic equivalent, conferred by a graduate school of recognized standing. Students of psychology, whether or not they have a qualifying degree, shall apply to be Student Affiliates. Applicants must be sponsored by a member or Fellow of the Corporation, although the requirement for sponsorship may be waived in circumstances described in the Operating Regulations.

3.02 MEMBERSHIP TRANSFERABILITY

A membership may only be transferred to the Corporation.

3.03 RIGHTS OF MEMBERS

A member of the Corporation shall have the right to receive notice of, attend, speak and participate at all meetings of members and the right to one (1) vote at all meetings of members.

3.04 TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP

A membership in the Corporation is terminated when:

- a) the member dies;
- b) the member fails to maintain the qualifications for membership set out in section 3.01;
- c) the member resigns;
- d) the member's term of membership expires, if applicable;
- e) the member is removed by the board in accordance with section 3.06;

Subject to the articles, upon any termination of membership, the rights of the member, including any rights in the property of the Corporation, automatically cease to exist. Where a person is no longer a member, then such person shall be deemed to have also automatically resigned as a director, an officer and/or a committee member, as applicable, provided that the board may in its discretion subsequently re-appoint such individual as a committee member if the board deems it appropriate in the circumstances.

3.05 MEMBERSHIP AND AFFILIATE DUES

The directors may determine the amount and the manner in which membership and affiliate dues are to be paid. Members and affiliates shall be notified in writing of the dues at any time payable by them and, if any are not paid within one (1) calendar month of the membership or affiliate renewal date, as the case may be, the members and affiliates in default shall thereupon cease to be members or affiliates of the Corporation.

3.06 DISCIPLINE OF MEMBERS AND AFFILIATES

The board may suspend or remove any member or affiliate from the Corporation for any one or more of the following grounds:

- a) violating any provision of the articles, by-laws, or Operating Regulations of the Corporation;
- b) carrying out any conduct which may be detrimental to the Corporation as determined by the board in its sole discretion;
- c) for any other reason that the board in its sole and absolute discretion considers to be reasonable, having regard to the objects of the Corporation.

Suspension, expulsion and reinstatement of members and affiliates shall take place in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Operating Regulations.

SECTION 4 – MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

4.01 NOTICE OF MEETING OF MEMBERS

In accordance with and subject to the Act, notice of the time and place of a meeting of members shall be given to each member entitled to vote at the meeting by the following means:

- a) by mail, courier or personal delivery to each member entitled to vote at the meeting, during a period of 21 to 60 days before the day on which the meeting is to be held; or
- b) by telephonic, electronic or other communication facility to each member entitled to vote at the meeting, during a period of 21 to 35 days before the day on which the meeting is to be held.

Notice of a meeting of members shall also be given to each director and to the public accountant of the Corporation during a period of 21 to 60 days before the day on which the meeting is to be held. Notice of any meeting of members at which special business is to be transacted shall state the nature of that business in sufficient detail to permit the member to form a reasoned judgment on the business and provide the text of any special resolution or by-law to be submitted to the meeting. The directors may fix a record date for determination of members entitled to receive notice of any meeting of members in accordance with the requirements of section 161 of the Act. Subject to the Act, a notice of members' meeting provided by the Corporation shall include any proposal submitted to the Corporation under section 4.13.

4.02 ANNUAL MEETINGS

An annual meeting of members shall be held at such time in each year, as the board may from time to time determine, provided that the annual meeting must be held not later than 15 months after holding the preceding annual meeting and no later than 6 months after the end of the Corporation's preceding fiscal year. The annual meeting shall be held for the purpose of considering the financial statements and reports of the Corporation required by the Act to be presented at the meeting, electing directors, appointing the public accountant and transacting such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting or is required under the Act. The Operating Regulations may set out any other requirements, including but not limited to rules of procedure, relating to the holding of annual meetings of members.

4.03 SPECIAL MEETINGS

The board may at any time call a special meeting of members for the transaction of any business which may properly be brought before the members. In accordance with and subject to the Act, on written requisition by members carrying not less than 5% of the votes that may be cast at a meeting of members sought to be held,

the board shall call a special general meeting of members, unless the exceptions in the section 167 of the Act are met. If the directors do not call a meeting within twenty-one (21) days of receiving the requisition, any member who signed the requisition may call the meeting.

4.04 PLACE OF MEETINGS

In accordance with and subject to the Act, meetings of members may be held at any place within Canada as the board may determine or outside Canada if all of the members entitled to vote at such meeting so agree.

4.05 SPECIAL BUSINESS

All business transacted at a special meeting of members and all business transacted at an annual meeting of members, except consideration of the financial statements, public accountant's report, election of directors and re-appointment of the incumbent public accountant, is special business.

4.06 PERSONS ENTITLED TO BE PRESENT

The only persons entitled to be present at a meeting of members shall be those entitled to vote at the meeting, the directors, the officers, and the public accountant of the Corporation and such other persons who are entitled or required under any provision of the Act, articles or by-laws of the Corporation to be present at the meeting. Any other person may be admitted only on the invitation of the chair of the meeting or by ordinary resolution of the members.

4.07 CHAIR OF THE MEETING

The President shall act as chair of any meeting of members. In the event that the President is absent, the members who are present and entitled to vote at the meeting shall choose one of their number to chair the meeting.

4.08 QUORUM

Subject to the Act, a quorum at any meeting of the members shall be twenty-five (25) members present at the meeting. If a quorum is present at the opening of a meeting of members, the members present may proceed with the business of the meeting even if a quorum is not present throughout the meeting. For the purpose of determining quorum, a member may be present in person or by telephonic and/or other electronic means.

4.09 VOTES TO GOVERN

At any meeting of members every question shall, unless otherwise provided by the articles or by-laws or by the Act, be determined by ordinary resolution. In case of an equality of votes either on a show of hands or on a ballot or on the results of electronic voting, the chair of the meeting in addition to an original vote shall have a second or casting vote.

4.10 PARTICIPATION BY ELECTRONIC MEANS

If the Corporation chooses to make available a telephonic, electronic or other communication facility that permits all participants to communicate adequately with each other during a meeting of members, any person entitled to attend such meeting may participate in the meeting by means of such telephonic, electronic or other communication facility in the manner provided by the Act and the Regulations. A person participating in a meeting by such means is deemed to be present at the meeting. Notwithstanding any other provision of this by-law, any person participating in a meeting of members pursuant to this section who is entitled to vote at that meeting may vote, in accordance with the Act and the Regulations, by means of any telephonic, electronic or other communication facility that the Corporation has made available for that purpose.

4.11 MEETING HELD ENTIRELY BY ELECTRONIC MEANS

Notwithstanding section 4.10, if the directors or members of the Corporation call a meeting of members, those directors or members, as the case may be, may determine that the meeting be held, in accordance with the Act and the Regulations, entirely by means of a telephonic, electronic or other communication facility that permits all participants to communicate adequately with each other during the meeting.

4.12 VOTING BY ELECTRONIC MEANS

Notwithstanding any other provision of this by-law, voting carried out by means of a telephonic, electronic or other communication facility referred to in section 4.10 and section 4.11 is permitted only if that facility enables the votes to be gathered in a manner that permits their subsequent verification; and permits the tallied votes to be presented to the Corporation without it being possible for the Corporation to identify how each member voted.

4.13 PROPOSALS AT ANNUAL MEETINGS

Subject to compliance with section 163 of the Act, a member entitled to vote at an annual meeting may submit to the Corporation notice of any matter that the member proposes to raise at the annual meeting (a “proposal”). Any such proposal may include nominations for the election of directors if the proposal is signed by not less than five per cent (5%) of the members entitled to vote at the meeting. Subject to the Act, the Corporation shall include the proposal in the notice of meeting and if so requested by the member, shall also include a statement by the member in support of the proposal and the name and address of the member. The member who submitted the proposal shall pay the cost of including the proposal and any statement in the notice of meeting at which the proposal is to be presented unless otherwise provided by ordinary resolution of the members present at the meeting.

4.14 RESOLUTION IN LIEU OF MEETING

In accordance with and subject to the Act, a resolution in writing signed by all the members entitled to vote on that resolution at a meeting of members is as valid as if it had been passed at a meeting of the members, unless a written statement is submitted to the Corporation by a director or by the public accountant in relation to their resignation, removal or replacement. A copy of every resolution of the members shall be kept with the minutes of meetings of members.

SECTION 5 – DIRECTORS

5.01 NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

The board shall consist of a number of directors between the minimum and maximum number of directors specified in the articles. The precise number of directors on the board shall be determined from time to time by the members by ordinary resolution, or, if the ordinary resolution empowers the directors to determine the number of directors, by resolution of the board.

5.02 QUALIFICATIONS

Each director shall be an individual who is not less than 18 years of age. No person who has been found by a court in Canada or elsewhere to be mentally incompetent or who has the status of a bankrupt shall be a director. Only members shall be eligible to be elected and hold office as directors of the Corporation, except for the position representing Students referred to in section 5.03(e), and any retiring director who remains a member of the Corporation shall be eligible for re-election. No person shall be eligible to hold more than one position on the board.

5.03 COMPOSITION OF BOARD

Directors shall, as far as practicable, be representative of the geographical regions of Canada, and of gender, sub-discipline interest and language groups. The board shall be comprised as far as possible of the following directors, all of whom shall be elected by the members except for those referred to in clause (a):

- a) The directors appointed by the board under section 5.05;
- b) The President-Elect;
- c) Three (3) directors representing scientists, scientist-practitioners and practitioners;
- d) Three (3) directors-at-large;
- e) One representative from each of the Council of Professional Associations of Psychologists (CPAP), the Canadian Council of Professional Psychology Programs (CCPPP), the Canadian Society for Brain, Behaviour and Cognitive Science (CSBBCS) and the Council of Canadian Departments of Psychology (CCDP). The CSBBCS seat may be otherwise filled by one director who is an experimental psychologist conducting basic research; and
- f) One representative from the Corporation's Section on Students.

5.04 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS AND TERM

- a) Subject to the articles and by-laws, directors shall be elected by the members by ordinary resolution at an annual meeting of members at which an election of directors is required.
- b) The terms of office of directors shall be established by ordinary resolution of the members provided that no director shall hold office for longer than a four (4) year term.
- c) If directors are not elected at a meeting of members, the incumbent directors shall continue in office until their successors are elected.
- d) Directors shall be eligible for re-election without limitation.
- e) The board shall establish a nominating committee, the details of which shall be set forth in the Operating Regulations. The nominating committee will present a report to the members for the election of directors and such report will be prepared in accordance with the requirements of this by-law and the Operating Regulations.

5.05 APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS AND TERM

Following the conclusion of the annual general meeting of members each year, the board of directors shall appoint two (2) directors who will also hold the positions of Immediate Past-President and President of the Corporation; however the total number of directors so appointed shall not exceed one-third (1/3) of the number of directors elected by the members at the previous annual meeting of members. The appointed directors will hold office as directors and officers for a term expiring not later than the close of the next annual meeting of members.

If the total number of directors to be appointed by the board in a particular year is fewer than three (3) directors as a result of the one-third (1/3) limitation referred to in the preceding paragraph, then a vacancy shall be declared on the board which shall be filled in the manner set forth in section 5.09.

5.06 CEASING TO HOLD OFFICE

A director ceases to hold office when the director dies, resigns, is removed from office by the members in accordance with section 5.08, or no longer fulfils all of the qualifications to be a director set out in section 5.02 as determined in the sole discretion of the board.

5.07 RESIGNATION

In accordance with and subject to the Act, a resignation of a director becomes effective at the time a written resignation is sent to the Corporation or at the time specified in the resignation, whichever is later.

5.08 REMOVAL

In accordance with and subject to the Act, the members may, by ordinary resolution, passed at a meeting of members, remove any director from office before the expiration of the director's term and may elect a qualified individual to fill the resulting vacancy for the remainder of the term of the director so removed, failing which such vacancy may be filled by the board. The procedure to be followed may be set out in the Operating Regulations.

5.09 FILLING VACANCIES

In accordance with and subject to the Act and the articles, a quorum of the board may fill a vacancy in the board, except a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number or the minimum or maximum number of directors, or from a failure of the members to elect the number of directors required to be elected at any meeting of members. If there is not a quorum of the board, or if the vacancy has arisen from a failure of the members to elect the number of directors required to be elected at any meeting of members, the board shall forthwith call a special meeting of members to fill the vacancy. If the board fails to call such meeting or if there are no directors then in office, any member may call the meeting. A director appointed or elected to fill a vacancy holds office for the unexpired term of their predecessor.

SECTION 6 – MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

6.01 CALLING OF MEETINGS

Meetings of the board may be called by the President or any three (3) directors at any time.

6.02 NOTICE OF MEETING

Notice of the time and place for the holding of a meeting of the board shall be given in the manner provided in section 9.01 of this by-law to every director of the Corporation not less than 48 hours before the time when the meeting is to be held. Notice of a meeting shall not be necessary if all of the directors are present, and none objects to the holding of the meeting, or if those absent have waived notice of or have otherwise signified their consent to the holding of such meeting. Notice of an adjourned meeting is not required if the time and place of the adjourned meeting is announced at the original meeting. Unless the by-law otherwise provides, no notice of meeting need specify the purpose or the business to be transacted at the meeting except that a notice of meeting of directors shall specify any matter referred to in subsection 138(2) of the Act that is to be dealt with at the meeting.

6.03 REGULAR MEETINGS

The board may appoint a day or days in any month or months for regular meetings of the board at a place and hour to be named. A copy of any resolution of the board fixing the place and time of such regular meetings of the board shall be sent to each director forthwith after being passed, but no other notice shall be required for any such regular meeting except if subsection 136(3) of the Act requires the purpose thereof or the business to be transacted to be specified in the notice.

6.04 PARTICIPATION AT MEETING BY TELEPHONE OR ELECTRONIC MEANS

If all of the directors consent, a director may, in accordance with the Regulations, participate in a board meeting, by means of a telephonic, electronic or other communications facility that permits all participants to communicate adequately with each other during the meeting. A director participating in the meeting by such means shall be deemed for the purposes of the Act to have been present at that meeting. A consent pursuant to this section may be given before or after the meeting to which it relates and may be given with respect to all meetings of the board and committees of the board.

6.05 VOTES TO GOVERN

At all meetings of the board, every question shall be decided by a majority of the votes cast on the question. In case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting in addition to an original vote shall have a second or casting vote.

6.06 QUORUM

A quorum shall be a majority of the number of directors determined in accordance with section 5.01. For the purpose of determining quorum, a director may be present in person, or, if authorized under this by-law, by teleconference and/or by other electronic means.

6.07 RESOLUTIONS IN WRITING

A resolution in writing, signed by all the directors entitled to vote on that resolution at a board meeting, shall be as valid as if it had been passed at a board meeting. A copy of every such resolution in writing shall be kept with the minutes of the proceedings of the board or committee of directors.

6.08 COMMITTEES

Subject to the Act, the board may from time to time appoint any committee or other advisory body, as it deems necessary or appropriate for such purposes, subject to the Act, with such powers as the board shall see fit. Any committee member may be removed by the board. Unless otherwise determined by the board, a committee shall have the power to fix its quorum at not less than a majority of its members, to elect its chairperson and to otherwise regulate its procedure. Terms of reference of all committees, including standing committees, nominations committee, committee on fellows and committee on elections shall be contained in the Corporation's Operating Regulations.

6.09 DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST

Every director and officer shall disclose to the Corporation the nature and extent of any interest that the director or officer has in a material contract or material transaction, whether made or proposed, with the Corporation, in accordance with the manner and timing provided in the Act.

SECTION 7 – OFFICERS

7.01 APPOINTMENT

The board may designate the offices of the Corporation, appoint officers, except the President-Elect, on an annual or more frequent basis, specify their duties and, subject to the Act, delegate to such officers the power to manage the affairs of the Corporation. A director may be appointed to any office of the Corporation. An officer may, but need not be, a director unless these by-laws otherwise provide. The term of office of officers shall be one (1) year unless otherwise determined by the board by resolution.

7.02 DESCRIPTION OF OFFICES

Unless otherwise specified by the board (which may, subject to the Act, modify, restrict or supplement such duties and powers), the offices of the Corporation, if designated and if officers are appointed thereto, shall have the following duties and powers associated therewith, as well as such other duties and powers as the board may specify from time to time:

- a) **Honorary President** – An Honorary President may be appointed from time to time by the board for a period of one year. The duties of the Honorary President shall be determined by the board.
- b) **President** - The President shall be a member and director of the Corporation. The President shall take office the year following the year of election to the office of President-Elect. In the role of Chair of the board of directors, the President is responsible for the development and maintenance of policy affecting the affairs of the Corporation. The President shall act as Chair of meetings of members and the board of directors thereof. The President shall also be a member ex-officio of all committees of the Corporation.
- c) **President-Elect** – The President-Elect shall be a member and director of the Corporation. He/she shall be elected annually by a vote by mail as herein provided. In the absence or disability of the President he/she shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President and shall perform such other duties as shall be delegated to him/her from time to time by the board. In the year following the year of election as President-Elect, he/she shall be appointed President of the Association.
- d) **Immediate Past-President** – The Immediate Past-President shall be a member and director of the Corporation and shall be appointed at the end of the term of the incumbent President. The duties of the Immediate Past-President shall be determined by the board.

- e) **Chief Executive Officer** – The Chief Executive Officer shall be appointed by the board of directors to hold office until the termination of his/her contract and upon completion of all duties connected therewith.

The Chief Executive Officer shall have full authority subject to the authority of the board of directors and the President, to manage and direct the affairs of the Corporation. The Chief Executive Officer shall conform to all lawful orders given to him/her by the board. The Chief Executive Officer shall give to the directors, to the officers or any one of them, from time to time, all information they may require regarding the affairs of the Corporation. The Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for the recording of all votes and minutes of all proceedings in the books to be kept for that purpose.

The Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for keeping a register of members and shall have custody of the corporate seal of the Corporation. The Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for preparing an annual budget for all accounts, for submission to the board of directors for its consideration.

The Chief Executive Officer shall have custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall be responsible for keeping full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation, and shall be responsible for the deposit of all monies and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation and in such depository as may be designated by the board from time to time. The Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for the disbursement of the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the board, and for taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the board of directors whenever they may require it, an account of all transactions and of the financial position of the Corporation.

The powers and duties of all other officers of the Corporation shall be such as the terms of their engagement call for or the board or President requires of them. The board may from time to time and subject to the Act, vary, add to or limit the powers and duties of any officer.

7.03 VACANCY IN OFFICE

In the absence of a written agreement to the contrary, the board may remove, whether for cause or without cause, any officer of the Corporation. Unless so removed, an officer shall hold office until the earlier of:

- a) the officer's successor being appointed,
- b) the officer's resignation,
- c) such officer ceasing to be a director (if a necessary qualification of appointment) or
- d) such officer's death.

If the office of any officer of the Corporation shall be or become vacant, the board may, by resolution, appoint a person to fill such vacancy.

SECTION 8 – SECTIONS

8.01 PURPOSE

Sections are the primary agents through which the particular and special needs of members are met and interests are served. Those matters pertaining to the discipline of psychology as a whole are the responsibility of the board of directors of the Corporation. The board of directors may establish Operating Regulations including rules and regulations concerning the operation, conduct and dissolution of Sections.

8.02 FORMATION

Approval to establish a Section within the Corporation may be granted by the board when a group of at least 25 Fellows and members of the Corporation submit a petition to the board which includes a statement of purpose and goals of the proposed Section.

8.03 DISSOLUTION

A Section of the Corporation may be dissolved by the board when the Section votes to request dissolution or when the number of Fellows and members of the Section falls below 25 Fellows and members. In the event that the number of Fellows and members of the Section falls below 25 Fellows and Members, the Section may submit a petition to the board of directors to stay dissolution for one year to enable the Section to re-establish the necessary number of Fellows and Members. If the Section is unable to achieve the required level within one year the Section shall be dissolved.

8.04 ORGANIZATION

Within twelve months of obtaining approval to establish a Section, the Section shall pass by-laws in conformity with such Model By-Laws as may from time to time be approved by the board of directors of the Corporation and the Section by-laws will take effect upon approval by the board. The Section by-laws will regulate among other things, the following:

- a) the admission of persons to the Section and the qualification for and the conditions of membership;
- b) the Section fees and dues of members;
- c) the suspension and termination of membership from the Section and by the member;
- d) the time for and the manner of election of directors of the Section;
- e) the election or appointment, functions, duties and removal of officers;

- f) the time and place and the notice to be given for the holding of meetings of members, the quorum at meetings; and
- g) the conduct in all particulars of the Section.

8.05 REGULATION OF SECTION AFFAIRS

A Section may engage in activities and adopt rules, regulations and policies for the management of its affairs which are not inconsistent with the articles, by-laws or Operating Regulations of the Corporation. However, nothing herein shall be construed as giving to a Section, the power and authority to:

- a) contract a loan, open a line of credit or issue a guarantee without the prior approval of the board of directors;
- b) make any expense or disbursement, or incur any contractual liability which is in excess of the amounts approved by the board of directors from time to time;
- c) represent or act on behalf of the Corporation in any manner or thing, except with the express consent of the board of directors of the Corporation.

8.06 DUES AND FEES INVOICING

Sections may establish annual section dues which will be collected by the central office. Sections shall have the authority to solicit donations from their members for specific identified purposes.

8.07 REPORTS

At least four weeks before the Annual General Meeting of the Corporation, the secretary of each Section shall submit an Annual Report, which includes a financial statement, to the board of directors of the Corporation. The financial statement shall include a budget for the ensuing year which shall be subject to approval by the board of directors.

8.08 COMMITTEE ON SECTIONS

Each Section shall elect or appoint a representative to sit on the Committee on Sections of the Corporation and shall regulate through the Section by-law the method of appointment or election and the terms of office.

8.09 POWERS

A Section shall have the power to initiate and undertake activities of relevance to its members, to draft position papers on topics of relevance to the Section, to initiate policy statements in areas of expertise and to organize meetings. A Section may make specific representation to external organizations or agencies only if it has received the approval of the board of directors to do so, or it may recommend that the Corporation make such representation.

8.10 ACCESS

A Section shall have access to the board of directors through the Chair of the Committee on Sections for consideration of issues of concern to the Section involving

matters relevant to the relationship of the Section to the Corporation as a whole or component thereof, or concerning agencies or activities external to the Corporation.

SECTION 9 – NOTICES

9.01 METHOD OF GIVING NOTICES

Subject to section 4.01 and 6.02, any notice to be given (which term includes sent, delivered or served) pursuant to the Act, the articles, the by-laws or otherwise to a member, director, officer, member of a committee of the board, or the public accountant shall be sufficiently given:

- a) if delivered personally to the person to whom it is to be given or if delivered to such person's address as shown in the records of the Corporation or in the case of notice to a director to the latest address as shown in the last notice that was filed by the Corporation in accordance with the Act and received by Corporations Canada; or
- b) if mailed to such person at such person's recorded address by prepaid ordinary or air mail; or
- c) if sent to such person by telephonic, electronic or other communication facility at such person's recorded address for that purpose; or
- d) if provided in the form of an electronic document in accordance with the Act.

A notice so delivered shall be deemed to have been given when it is delivered personally or to the recorded address as aforesaid; a notice so mailed shall be deemed to have been given when deposited in a post office or public letter box; and a notice so sent by any means of transmitted or recorded communication shall be deemed to have been given when dispatched or delivered to the appropriate communication company or agency or its representative for dispatch. The Secretary may change or cause to be changed the recorded address of any member, director, officer, public accountant, or member of a committee of the board in accordance with any information believed by the Secretary to be reliable. The declaration by the Secretary that notice has been given pursuant to this By-law shall be sufficient and conclusive evidence of the giving of such notice. The signature of any director or officer of the Corporation to any notice or other document to be given by the Corporation may be written, stamped, type-written or printed or partly written, stamped, type-written or printed.

9.02 COMPUTATION OF TIME

If a given number of days' notice or notice extending over a period is required to be given under the by-laws, the day of service, posting or other delivery of the notice shall not, unless it is otherwise provided, be counted in such number of days or other period.

9.03 UNDELIVERED NOTICES

If any notice given to a member is returned on two consecutive occasions because such member cannot be found, the Corporation shall not be required to give any further notices to such member until such member informs the Corporation in writing of his or her new address.

9.04 OMISSIONS AND ERRORS

The accidental omission to give any notice to any member, director, officer, member of a committee of the board or public accountant, or the non-receipt of any notice by any such person or any error in any notice not affecting its substance shall not invalidate any action taken at any meeting to which the notice pertained or otherwise founded on such notice.

9.05 WAIVER OF NOTICE

Any member, director, officer, member of a committee of the board or public accountant may waive or abridge the time for any notice required to be given to such person, and such waiver or abridgement, whether given before or after the meeting or other event of which notice is required to be given shall cure any default in the giving or in the time of such notice, as the case may be. Any such waiver or abridgement shall be in writing except a waiver of notice of a meeting of members or of the board or of a committee of the board, which may be given in any manner.

SECTION 10 – BY-LAWS

10.01 AMENDMENT OF ARTICLES

The Articles of the Corporation may only be amended if the amendment is sanctioned by a special resolution of the members. Any amendment to the Articles is effective on the date shown in the certificate of amendment.

10.02 BY-LAWS TO BE CONFIRMED BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION

In accordance with the articles and subject to the Act, any by-law, amendment or repeal of a by-law shall require confirmation by special resolution of the members.

10.3 EFFECTIVE DATE OF BOARD INITIATED BY-LAW, AMENDMENT OR REPEAL

Subject to the articles and section 10.04 of this by-law, the board of directors may, by resolution, make, amend or repeal any by-laws that regulate the activities or affairs of the Corporation. Any such by-law, amendment or repeal shall be effective from the date of the resolution of directors until the next meeting of members where it may be confirmed, rejected or amended by the members by special res-

olution. If the by-law, amendment or repeal is confirmed or confirmed as amended by the members it remains effective in the form in which it was confirmed. The by-law, amendment or repeal ceases to have effect if it is not submitted to the members at the next meeting of members or if it is rejected by the members at the meeting.

10.4 EFFECTIVE DATE OF BY-LAW, AMENDMENT OR REPEAL UNDER SUBSECTION 197(1)

A by-law made, amended or repealed under subsection 197(1) is effective from the date of the special resolution of members approving such by-law, amendment or repeal and need not be submitted to the board for approval. For greater certainty, under subsection 197(1) of the Act, a special resolution of the members is required to make any amendment to the articles or the by-laws of the Corporation to:

- a) change the Corporation's name;
- b) change the province in which the Corporation's registered office;
- c) add, change or remove any restriction on the activities that the Corporation may carry on;
- d) create a new class of members;
- e) change a condition required for being a member;
- f) change the designation of any class of members or add, change or remove any rights and conditions of any such class;
- g) divide any class of members into two or more classes and fix the rights and conditions of each class;
- h) add, change or remove a provision respecting the transfer of membership;
- i) subject to section 133, increase or decrease the number of or the minimum and maximum number of directors fixed by the articles;
- j) change the statement of the purpose of the Corporation;
- k) change the statement concerning the distribution of property remaining on liquidation after the discharge of any liabilities of the Corporation;
- l) change the manner of giving notice to members entitled to vote at a meeting of members;
- m) change the method of voting by members not in attendance at a meeting of members; or
- n) add, change or remove any other provision that is permitted by the Act to be set out in the articles.

SECTIN 11 – EFFECTIVE DATE

11.01 EFFECTIVE DATE

This by-law is effective upon the issuance of a certificate of continuance of the Corporation by the federal Government under the *Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act* and approval of the by-law by special resolution of the members.

ENACTED by the directors of the Corporation

this _____ day of _____, 2013.

President

Secretary

APPROVED by the members of the Corporation

this _____ day of _____, 2013.

Secretary

CANADIAN
PSYCHOLOGICAL
ASSOCIATION



SOCIÉTÉ
CANADIENNE
DE PSYCHOLOGIE